THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas
Steven C. Kirven, Master-in-Equity

Case No. 2021-CP-37-00093
Appellate Case No. 2023-000918

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERR IN RULING THAT THE HALSELLS, AS OWNERS OF THE SERVIENT ESTATE, ARE PROHIBITED FROM ESSENTIALLY ANY USE OF THE NON-EXCLUSIVE LANDSCAPE EASEMENT AREA LOCATED ON THEIR PROPERTY WITHOUT WRITTEN PERMISSION FROM THE MOUNTAIN VIEW POINTE OWNERS ASSOCIATION?

2. DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERR IN RULING THAT THE HALSELLS' CONSTRUCTION OF A DRIVEWAY ON THEIR PROPERTY THROUGH A SMALL PORTION OF A LANDSCAPE EASEMENT AREA CONSTITUTED A TRESPASS OR NUISANCE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of a dispute relating to a non-exclusive easement (“easement,” “Landscape Easement,” or “Landscape Easement Area”) located on property owned by Rodney and Barbara Halsell (the “Halsells”) in favor of the Respondents (collectively, the “POA”¹). The easement derives from a subdivision plat recorded in connection with the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (“Covenants”) for the Mountain View Pointe subdivision (“the Subdivision”) located in Oconee County, South Carolina. (R. at 514-95). The Covenants define the “Landscape Easement Area” as the “twenty-five (25’) foot easement granted by Declarant along both sides of the main entrance road into the Subdivision . . .” (R. at 522, § 1.23). With respect to the Halsell’s chain of title, the only reference to the easement is in the form of two recorded plats. (R. at 609-15, 617-19).

The POA commenced this litigation on February 8, 2021, alleging that the Halsells and an adjoining property owner (Graham and Christine Piper, the “Pipers”) had encroached or planned to encroach on the easement through the construction of driveways without permission from the POA. (R. at 43-51). The complaint demanded the following relief: (1) a declaration of the parties’ rights under the Covenants; (2) an injunction barring the driveways; (3) restoration of the “landscape easement to its condition prior to [the Halsell’s] work in the easement area;” and (4) actual and punitive damages. (*Id.*). The POA filed an amended complaint on February 18, 2021, alleging claims against the Halsells for declaratory judgment, injunction, negligence, breach of contract, breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act, and trespass. (R. at 52-61). The Halsells timely answered on March 8, 2021. (R. at 62-67). The matter was referred to the master-in-equity for Oconee County (“master”) by order dated October 28, 2021. (R. at 1-3).

¹ For ease of reference, “POA” also refers to the Mountain View Pointe Owners Association.

Following a trial on October 26-27, 2022 and the submission of post-trial memoranda by the parties, the master entered an order on March 13, 2023 finding “that the Easements vest in the POA sole management and control of beautification, vegetation, landscaping, soil disturbance and grading in the Landscape Easement Area which is necessary in order to insure [*sic*] the full use and enjoyment of the Landscape Easement and any interference with the same by the servient estate owners or anyone claiming through them is a violation of the POA’s rights in the Easements.” (R. at 27). The master further ruled “that the placement of a driveway or other permanent structure in the Landscape Easement Area unreasonably prohibits the POA from using the portion of the easement area obstructed thereby for the purpose for which it was granted and is a violation of the POA’s rights in the Landscape Easement.” (*Id.*). The master further ordered the Halsells to remove the driveway and restore the landscape easement area to its former condition. (R. at 27-28).

On March 23, 2023, the Halsells filed a motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rules 52 and 59, SCRCP. (R. at 146-49). After a hearing, the master entered a supplemental order on the motion to alter or amend on May 31, 2023. (R. at 33-42). This appeal followed.

FACTS

I. The lay of the land.

In 2020, the Halsells purchased a 4.715 acre parcel described as “PARCEL A” (the “Property”) from the Pipers.² (R. at 617-18). The purchase was made subject to “those easements and/or rights-of-way as may appear on the premises and/or of record and all zoning and setback requirements.” (*Id.*). The plat referenced in the Halsells’ deed shows the following:

² The Pipers purchased the Property from Crescent Communities S.C, LLC (“Crescent”), the developer of the Subdivision, in 2013. (R. at 609-14, 204:18-22).

II. The easement.

In November 2002, Crescent, as declarant, recorded the Covenants and a subdivision plat showing the layout for the Subdivision (“Subdivision Plat”). (R. at 514-79, 593-95). At the time the Subdivision was created, Crescent also owned the Property. (See R. at 593-95, 205:16-19). The Property is not part of the Subdivision and is not subject to the Covenants. (R. at 199:23-200:4, 341:21-25). The only reference to the easement in the Halsells’ chain of title is by reference to two plats. (R. at 609-15, 617-19).

Section 7.9 of the Covenants purports to establish “*non-exclusive* perpetual easements *for the purpose of landscaping and maintaining the property adjacent to the main entry road* for the Subdivision as ‘Landscaping Easement’ on the Map.” (R. at 543 (emphasis added)). Section 1.25 of the Covenants defines “Map” as the Subdivision Plat. (R. at 522). Section 1.23 of the Covenants defines the “Landscape Easement Area” as the “twenty-five (25’) foot easement” granted by Declarant along both sides of the main entrance road into the Subdivision” (*Id.*). As shown in the Subdivision Plat (R. at 593-95) and the Halsells’ plat (R. at 619), the easement is a 25 foot strip running the full length of the Halsells’ frontage on Mountain View Pointe Drive.³

The Covenants also created the POA to own, maintain, and administer common areas and enforce the Covenants. (R. at 520). Pursuant to Section 1.12 of the Covenants, the term “Common Area(s)” includes the Landscape Easement Area. (*Id.*). Section 3.1 of the Covenants provides, “[o]n or before ten (10) years from the date this Declaration is recorded, [Crescent] shall convey fee simple title by limited warranty deed (or grant of easement) to the Common Areas to the Association, to be owned and maintained by the Association.” (R. at 525).

³ As shown on the plats, the easement runs approximately 1,125 lineal feet along the edge of the Property and covers approximately 28,125 square feet (.645 acres). (R. at 593-95, 619, 416:11-417:7).

However, the property records for Oconee County show that the POA does not own the Landscape Easement. (R. at 596-603). On April 8, 2005, Crescent deeded to the POA the property labeled as “COS,” “Common Open Space,” and “Access Area,” shown on the Subdivision Plat. (R. at 596-99). On June 16, 2005, by way of “Corrective Deed,” the POA reconveyed the “COS,” “Common Open Space,” and “Access Area” back to Crescent. (R. at 600-03). The Landscape Easement has not been reconveyed to the POA.

III. The Halsells seek to build a driveway.

On September 7, 2020, the Halsells met with the POA board of directors regarding their plan to construct a residential garage and driveway on the Property. (R. at 372:17-25, 373:3-376:14). In a written proposal to the POA, the Halsells indicated that they were seeking to “[d]etermine a mutually agreeable arrangement to secure a driveway off Mountain View Pointe Drive across the landscape easement.” (R. at 629-30). The POA responded that it could not grant permission to construct a driveway through the easement without the unanimous vote of all property owners within the Subdivision. (R. at 620-21).

In response, the Halsells stated that the purpose of the September 7, 2020, meeting was not to seek permission but to “avoid any conflicts before beginning the project.” (R. at 622-23). The Halsells further communicated to the POA that routing the driveway to Doug Hollow Road rather than Mountain View Pointe Drive would negatively impact the Subdivision because doing so would require the removal more than 30,000 square feet of trees and vegetation as opposed to the much more limited clearing required for their proposed driveway on Mountain View Pointe Drive. (R. at 625-28, 384:1-12, 400:5-17). The Halsells also addressed the logistical challenges posed by putting a driveway on Doug Hollow Road due to the topography of the Property, including elevation changes and an embankment at the roadway. (R. at 443:4-13, 440:17-22, 701).

After these discussions and after consulting with multiple attorneys regarding their rights with respect to the easement, the Halsells began work on their new garage and driveway in February 2021. (R. at 396:20-23, 398:12-399:2). The Halsells obtained all required permits for the project, including a permit to place the driveway within the County's right of way on Mountain View Pointe Drive. (R. at 411:4-7). As part of the construction, the Halsells spent more than \$8,000.00 on landscaping along the sides of the driveway being careful to only remove naturally growing small pine trees and not to remove any landscaping installed by the POA. (R. at 374:10-25, 408:21-409:5, 411:8-25). The paved portion of the Halsells' driveway within the easement covers only 750 square feet (.017 acres), and the cleared area on either side of the paving has been replanted. (R. at 418:8-24, 420:17-421:23, 697-98).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Declaratory judgment actions are neither legal nor equitable; therefore, the standard of review depends upon the nature of the underlying issues.” *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. Horry Cnty.*, 391 S.C. 76, 81, 705 S.E.2d 21, 24 (2011). The determination of the existence of an easement is a fact question in an action at law; however, the determination of the scope of an easement is an action in equity, and the proper scope of review is *de novo*. *Hardy v. Aiken*, 369 S.C. 160, 164–65, 631 S.E.2d 539, 541 (2006). “The language of an easement determines its extent. Clear and unambiguous language in grants of easement must be construed according to terms which parties have used, taken, and understood in [the] plain, ordinary, and popular sense.” *Binkley v. Rabon Creek Watershed Conservation Dist. of Fountain Inn*, 348 S.C. 58, 67, 558 S.E.2d 902, 906–07 (Ct. App. 2001) (quotations and footnotes omitted).

An action for injunctive relief is equitable in nature. *Miller v. Borg-Warner Acceptance Corp.*, 279 S.C. 90, 92, 302 S.E.2d 340, 341 (1983). In reviewing an appeal of an equitable action tried before a master, the “Court must review the entire record and make its own findings of fact according to its view of the preponderance of the evidence. This requirement does not, however, command [the Court] to ignore the findings of the trial judge.” *Thomas v. Mitchell*, 287 S.C. 35, 37–38, 336 S.E.2d 154, 155 (Ct. App. 1985) (citation omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. The master erred in ruling that the Halsells are prohibited from *any* use of the non-exclusive landscape easement area located on their property not expressly permitted in writing by the POA.

“A grant of an easement is to be construed in accordance with the rules applied to deeds and other written instruments.” *Binkley*, 348 S.C. at 71, 558 S.E. 2d at 909, quoting 28A C.J.S. *Easements* § 57, at 235 (1996). The court must construe an unambiguous grant of

easement in accordance with the terms used by the parties. *Plott v. Justin Enterprises*, 374 S.C. 504, 512–12, 649 S.E.2d 92, 96 (Ct. App. 2007). When an easement is shown on a plat incorporated into a deed, any restriction on the use of the is to be strictly construed and “all doubts resolved in favor of the free use of the property.” *Hamilton v. CCM, Inc.*, 263 S.E.2d 378, 380, 274 S.C. 152, 157 (1980).

Consistent with this basic framework, courts in South Carolina have long applied rules of reasonableness with respect to the rights of the servient estate holder. In *Clemson Univ. v. First Provident Corp.*, 260 S.C. 640, 650, 197 S.E.2d 914, 919 (1973), the South Carolina Supreme Court recited the following basic premise:

Though the rights of the easement owner are paramount, to the extent of the easement, to those of the landowner, the rights of the easement owner and of the landowner are not absolute, irrelative, and uncontrolled, but are so limited, each by the other, that there may be a due and reasonable enjoyment of both the easement and the servient tenement. The owner of an easement is said to have all rights incident or necessary to its proper enjoyment, but nothing more.

(quotation omitted). By way of illustration of the type of balancing that should be done between the dominant and servient estates,

The sole question in this case is whether the defendant should be required to remove gates erected across plaintiff’s right of way over defendant’s pasture land and be enjoined from again erecting them. The facts are set out in the decree of the circuit judge, and this court is fully satisfied with his reasoning and the conclusion that the erection of the gates was necessary for the reasonable enjoyment by defendant of his land over which the way passes, and that they do not constitute an unreasonable interference with plaintiff’s right of way. Whether the owner of land over which a right of way runs has a right to erect gates across it depends upon the circumstances. The owner of the servient estate in farm land does not lose the right to inclose his land for agricultural purposes by reason of taking it subject to a private right of way, nor is it his duty to run a fence on both sides for the entire length of the way [.] He may inclose his land, using gates, provided they are necessary for the enjoyment of his property, and are not so numerous and of such size and construction as to constitute an unreasonable burden on the right of way... To require the defendant to throw his pasture lands open would deprive him of their use, and to require him to fence the right of way on either side would entail a most unreasonable burden upon him. On the other hand, the erection of two gates, which

are well constructed, does not materially affect plaintiff's enjoyment of his right of way.

Watson v. Hoke, 73 S.C. 361, 363–64, 53 S.E. 537, 537–58 (1906); *see e.g., Hill v. Carolina Power & Light Co.*, 204 S.C. 83, 96, 28 S.E.2d 545, 549 (1943) (“The right of the easement owner and the right of the landowner are not absolute, irrelative and uncontrolled, but are so limited, each by the other, that there may be a due and reasonable enjoyment of both. In other words, a grant or reservation of an easement in general terms is limited to a use which is reasonably necessary and convenient and as little burdensome to the servient estate as possible for the use contemplated.”). Whether interference with or obstruction to an easement is unreasonable depends upon the facts and circumstances of each case, and courts apply a balancing test. *Thomas*, 287 S.C. at 39, 336 S.E. 2d at 156. When the impact upon the dominant estate is minimal, the courts will not find unreasonable interference.⁴ *Id.*

Here, the master correctly found that the Property is not subject to the terms of the Covenants because it is not in the Subdivision. (R. at 15 ¶42). Nor does the POA own the Landscape Easement. (R. at 596-603).

The master erred by construing the terms of the Covenants to preclude any use of the Landscape Easement by the Halsells, effectively giving the POA the fee interest in the area without any of the tax liability. (R. at 14-15 ¶¶14-17, 21-22 ¶¶14-17, 27 ¶¶1-4). Although the master paid lip service to the case law cited above, he barred the construction of any permanent structure in the Landscape easement (R. at 22 ¶16), disregarded the source of the easement in the Halsells' chain of title, and read/ rewrote the inapplicable Covenants very broadly so as to give the POA

⁴ In ingress-egress cases, courts have considered the following: (1) is the gate located, constructed, and maintained as not to unreasonably interfere with the right of passage of the dominant estate, (2) whether the gate is necessary to preserve the servient estate, and (3) whether the gate was necessary for the use of the servient estate. *Id.*

complete control over “all vegetation, landscaping, and grading” (R. at 22 ¶17). Nowhere do the plats in the Halsells’ chain, the Subdivision Plat, or the Covenants state or imply that the owners of the Property would have no rights to the Landscape Easement Area or that there is an exclusive right conveyed to the POA with respect to “beautification, vegetation, landscaping, soil disturbance and grading” within the Landscape Easement Area as found by the master. (R. at 27 ¶4). To the contrary, the Covenants state that the easement is non-exclusive.

Although the master makes reference to the servient estate’s ability to “use” the area, there is no use left to be had based on the master’s rulings. Courts in other states have disallowed such a construction. *Walton v. Cap. Land, Inc.*, 252 Va. 324, 326, 477 S.E.2d 499, 501 (1996) (“If a conveyance grants the right to exclusive use of all or part of the servient estate *for all purposes*, the owner of the servient estate is stripped of his right to use the land. Conveyances of this sort are generally considered to effectively transfer an interest in fee, not an easement, and are not favored.”); *Gelfand v. Mortg. Invs. of Washington*, 453 So. 2d 897, 898–99 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1984) (holding that construction of easement to allow dominant estate to prevent use by servient estate would be tantamount to conveyance of land to holder of dominant estate in fee simple).

The order goes well beyond the facts presented with respect to the driveway. Under the order, the Halsells may not fence, mow, plant, pasture, or even walk on the Landscape Easement Area (to the extent that walking on the area could result in “removal of or damage to vegetation”). (R. at 27 ¶¶1-4). The master did not balance the respective interests of the parties and instead applied the broadest possible construction to the easement, resulting in no enjoyment of the portion of the Property located within the Landscape Easement Area for the servient estate. This is directly contrary to South Carolina law.

As reflected in the record, the Halsells did not remove any landscaping placed by the POA; thus, the driveway was perfectly consistent with the POA's reasonable enjoyment of the landscape easement area. When the Halsells' use of their own property is balanced against the burden on the POA's rights in the non-exclusive Landscape Easement Area, the facts and law dictate that the Halsells should be allowed reasonable access over an insignificant portion of the Landscape Easement Area. Rather than trying to reconcile the interests of the two estates in light of the language of the easement, the master instead found that the Halsells have no interest in the Landscape Easement, notwithstanding their ownership interest in the Property and the directive that the easement is non-exclusive.

Although there are no reported South Carolina cases expressly defining the term "non-exclusive easement," Black's Law Dictionary provides: "[a]n easement allowing the servient landowner to share in the benefit of the easement, - Also termed *nonexclusive easement*." EASEMENT, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019). In contrast, an exclusive easement is "[a]n easement that the holder has the sole right to use." *Id.* These definitions are consistent with the South Carolina cases applying a reasonableness standard and a balancing test cited above.

In addition, this construct is consistent with the law applied in other jurisdictions. *See, e.g., Blalock v. Conzelman*, 751 So. 2d 2, 6 (Ala. 1999) ("the parties have concurrent rights to the use of the easement, and neither party can prevent the other from using the easement in a manner consistent with the purposes for which the easement was created"); *Walton*, 252 Va. at 326, 477 S.E.2d at 501 ("[W]e have repeatedly held that the owner of the servient estate retains the right to use his land in any manner which does not unreasonably interfere with the use granted in the easement."); *Tidwell v. Bezner*, 245 P.3d 620, 622 (Okla. Civ. App. 2010) (absent language in easement that usage is exclusive to dominant estate, "*the fee owner may use the land upon which*

the easement is imposed in any reasonable manner that does not unduly burden the use made by the easement owner”); *Gelfand*, 453 So. 2d at 898–99 (non-exclusive easement permits use by the servient owner); *Pro. Exec. Ctr. v. LaSalle Nat. Bank*, 211 Ill. App. 3d 368, 379, 570 N.E.2d 366, 373 (1991) (use of non-exclusive easement by dominant tenement cannot preclude use by the servient tenement, “but rather use by both must be permitted in accordance with their interests.”).

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