**RECEIVED**

**Jan 31 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

**Appeal from Oconee County  
Court of Common Pleas  
Steven C. Kirven, Master-in-Equity**

**Appellate Case No. 2023-000918  
Trial Court Case No. 2021-CP-37-00093**

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

(R. p. 434) (emphasis added).

Even the Appellant's own testimony contradicts this mischaracterization of "access" when he testified about the metes and bounds of the easement: "the width of landscape easement is 28,125 square feet *that the neighborhood has access to maintain in the landscape easement.*" (R. p. 416) (emphasis added). Access is not a driveway, regardless of the mischaracterization raised at trial and re-asserted by Appellants now when stating there remain no uses to the property and simultaneously stating the neighborhood had the type of access to the easement as is commonly understood of the word "access."

Reasonably, the Appellant has all of those rights except to take those few actions defeating the purpose of the easement, and Mr. Halsell's own limitations concerning his property rights to the easement area are insufficient to overcome the substantial evidence of the purpose and use of the landscape easement. The order being challenged should be affirmed in spite of Appellants'

misplaced interpretation of "damage to vegetation" as being so egregious it gave the POA "complete control" tantamount to a fee interest without tax liability (App. Br. 10-11).

**c) The Master-In-Equity Correctly Determined the Scope and Extent of the Easement**

"In construing a deed[,] it is elementary that the cardinal rule of construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intention of the parties, unless that intention contravenes some well settled rule of law or public policy." *Sandy*, 246 S.C. at 420, 143 S.E.2d at 806 (citing *Davis v. Davis*, 223 S.C. 182, 75 S.E.2d 46 (1953); *Grainger v. Hamilton*, 228 S.C. 318, 90 S.E.2d 209 (1955); and *Byars v. Cherokee Cty.*, 237 S.C. 548, 118 S.E.2d 324 (1961)).

"The language of an easement determines its extent." *Simmons v. Berkeley Elec. Coop., Inc.*, 404 S.C. 172, 179, 744 S.E.2d 580, 584 (Ct. App. 2013), *aff'd in part, rev'd in part*, 419 S.C. 223, 797 S.E.2d 387 (2016) (citing *Plott v. Justin Enters.*, 374 S.C. 504, 513, 649 S.E.2d 92, 96 (Ct. App. 2007) (internal citations omitted). "The general rule is that the character of an express easement is determined by the nature of the right and the intention of the parties creating it." *Plott* at 514, 649 S.E.2d at 96 (quoting *Smith v. Comm'rs of Pub. Works of Charleston*, 312 S.C. 460, 467, 441 S.E.2d 331, 336 (Ct. App. 1994)). Unambiguous language in the grant of an easement must be construed "according to the terms the parties have used." *Plott*, 374 S.C. at 513-14, 649 S.E.2d at 96 (citing *S.C. Pub. Serv. Auth. v. Ocean Forest, Inc.*, 275 S.C. 552, 554, 273 S.E.2d 773, 774 (1981)). "It is axiomatic that the language of an express easement strictly controls the permitted uses and purposes." *Morrow v. Dyches*, 328 C.S. 522, 492 S.E.2d 420 (Ct. App. 1997). "Words of a restrictive covenant will be given the common, ordinary meaning attributed to them at the time of their execution." *Taylor v. Lindsey*, 332 S.C. 1, 4, 498 S.E.2d 862, 863 (1998). "[T]he paramount rule of construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the parties as

determined from the whole document." *Id.* at 4, 498 S.E.2d at 863-64 (quoting *Palmetto Dunes Resort v. Brown*, 287 S.C. 1, 6, 336 S.E.2d 15, 18 (Ct. App. 1985)).

The Master-In-Equity correctly applied these rules of construction in finding that the Declaration was "sufficiently clear and [were] not ambiguous" because the Plat and Declaration do not require parol evidence to interpret the intent of the parties in creating a non-exclusive easement. The plat prepared for Crescent, and properly recorded, is not susceptible to more than one interpretation as it pertains to the existence and scope of the landscape easement because the language of the easement is not "equally capable of two or more constructions." *Hamilton v. CCM, Inc.*, 274 S.C. 152, 263 S.E.2d 378 (1980) (citing *Davey v. Artistic Builders, Inc.*, 263 S.C. 431, 211 S.E.2d 235 (1975)). The term "non-exclusive" as it pertains to an easement is not sufficiently ambiguous as to render the easement equally capable of two or more constructions because the interpretation offered by the Halsells is legally impossible and at direct odds with legal precedent.

*Hamilton* arose from a question as to the existence of an "open space easement" because the "open space easement" moniker "d[id] not appear on the plat in the area where [the parcel] would be located or in proximity thereto." 274 S.C. at 156-57, 263 S.E.2d at 380. The court could not determine whether the developers intended to create an easement because the plat was, "as previously stated, obviously ambiguous." *Id.* There is no such question here where the plat and the Halsells all affirm the boundaries, length, width, extent, distance, and placement of the Landscape Easement across the Halsell property. These undisputed facts extinguished the need to consider parol evidence to interpret the scope of the landscape easement. (R. p. 15, R. p. 432). Rodney Halsell testified that the easement was not something that he found ambiguous. (R. p. 432). Further, the case law answers the remaining question as to the interpretation of "non-exclusive" and supports the master's findings in the case at bar.

"Restrictions on the use of property will be strictly construed with all doubts resolved in favor of free use of the property, *although the rule of strict construction should not be used to defeat the plain and obvious purpose of the restrictive covenant.*" *Seabrook Island Prop. Owners Ass'n. v. Marshlan Tr., Inc.*, 358 S.C. 655, 662, 596 S.E.2d 380, 383 (Ct. App. 2004) (emphasis added). "This rule of strict construction is subject to the provision that it is not applicable so as to defeat the plain and obvious purpose of the instrument." *Hamilton*, 274 S.C. at 158-59, 263 S.E.2d at 381 (citing *Davey*). Appellants cannot now defeat the plain and obvious purpose of the instrument by overstating *Hamilton* and crafting doubt through mischaracterization of the master's order. (App. Br. 9).

An easement is a right to use the property of another for a specific purpose "and gives no title to the land on which the servitude is imposed." *Snow*, 416 S.C. at 85, 784 S.E.2d at 249. An owner of title to property cannot grant themselves an easement on property they also own as this would not, *perforce*, concern the property of another. *Windham v. Riddle*, 381 S.C. 192, 672 S.E.2d 578 (2009) (holding no easement existed as title to the dominant and servient estates was held by the same individual under the doctrine of merger of title). The Halsells, as owners of the servient estates, could not grant themselves an easement nor could they grant rights they do not possess. *Haselden v. Schein*, 167 S.C. 534, 539, 166 S.E. 634, 635 (1932).

The other interpretation of "non-exclusive" offered by the Halsells would trammel any reasonable interpretation of the term to mean the servient estate could ignore the purpose and effect of the easement, if it was non-exclusive. (App. Br. 11). The argument the Halsells offered is that an exclusive easement would leave them with "no rights to the Landscape Easement Area" and the right conveyed to the POA is exclusive "with respect to 'beautification, vegetation, landscaping, soil disturbance and grading.'" (App. Br. 11). The master rightly concluded that the term "non-

exclusive" is not sufficiently ambiguous as to render the Landscape Easement difficult to determine because this interpretation of the easement would necessarily defeat the purpose of the easement. (R. pp. 22-23).

The term "non-exclusive easement" does not defeat the grant of the easement because the adjective "non-exclusive" prohibits the dominant estate from providing individuated privilege or access to the easement. For example, in *Snow v. Smith ex rel. Stoudenmire*, the Court of Appeals parsed the meaning in a deed of the term "non-exclusive access to the water . . . as shown on [the 1983 P]lat[,] which shall run with the land." 416 S.C. 72, 80, 784 S.E.2d 242, 245-46 (Ct. App. 2016) (modifications in original). The court determined the non-exclusive nature of the deed meant the license to benefit from the easement could be given by the dominant estate to more than one licensee. *Id.* at 86-87, 784 S.E.2d at 249 (holding multiple individuals could use the non-exclusive easement for ingress and egress concurrently under the plain meaning of the terms used by the parties).

The term "non-exclusive easement" was earlier considered by the Court of Appeals in relation to another easement for ingress and egress. *Xanadu Horizontal Property Regime v. Ocean Walk Horizontal Property Regime*, 306 S.C. 170, 410 S.E.2d 580 (Ct. App. 1991). Here, the court found that Xanadu had been given a non-exclusive easement over a portion of a parking lot. *Id.* 306 S.C. at 171, 410 S.E.2d at 581. Subsequently, the servient estate granted to a third-party a second and separate non-exclusive easement burdening the same physical property as that given to Xanadu. *Id.* This third-party sought to build a parking lot on the servitude property; Xanadu filed suit alleging interference with its earlier non-exclusive easement. *Id.* The *Xanadu* court found the narrowing of the paved passageway for ingress and egress unlawfully interfered with Xanadu's easement. *Id.* at 171-72, 410 S.E.2d at 581. Looking at the non-exclusive easement, the court held

that the easement "cannot be constricted to any degree" because *Xanadu's* easement "[wa]s specific in its terms as to the easement's width, length, and location." *Id.* The reasoning applied by the *Xanadu* court is applicable to this question; however, *Xanadu* also resolves the question concerning the balancing of interests between the Halsells and the POA.

The landscape easement is identified by metes and bounds. (R. pp. 20-23). The physical extent of the easement is defined in a manner identical to the non-exclusive easement in *Xanadu* by specifically setting forth the "easement's width, length, and location." *Xanadu*, 306 S.C. at 172, 410 S.E.2d at 581. At trial, the parties developed a substantial record about the total square footage of the easement on each side of the road (R. p. 416), the total square footage of the driveway across the easement (R. p. 418), and the total square footage of the individual flower beds (R. p. 417). Mr. Halsell corroborated the definite and specific length, width, and distance of the easement as set forth on the plats, deeds, and ancillary written instruments. (R. pp. 416-48). *Xanadu's* holding mandates the servient estate cannot diminish the physical dimensions of the easement in any manner absent the consent of the dominant estate. *Xanadu*, 306 S.C. at 172-73, 410 S.E.2d at 581-82. The holding of *Xanadu* is controlling when, as here, the unambiguous terms of the easement are set forth in specific dimensions and therefore *any reduction in size is impermissible* even if there are alternative routes of ingress and egress available to the dominant estate. *Id.* at 173-74, 410 S.E.2d at 581-82. This case demonstrates the impossibility of the Halsells' interpretation of the easement because planting trees and shrubs in a concrete driveway is an impossibility, which no court nor litigant could resolve. "Somebody has got to break their back to get a hole in the concrete" in order to landscape and plant trees. (R. p. 195).

As adduced at trial, the Halsells contend that an inability to build a driveway through the easement is tantamount to not "want[ing] any access at all in the landscape easement area by

anybody" (R. p. 207), even though Mr. Piper testified he had never been denied access to the easement nor did he know if Mr. Halsell had been similarly denied access. (R. p. 211). Similarly, Mr. Halsell testified he was blocked from accessing his property on foot only to backtrack during testimony and acknowledge the *actual* concern raised by the POA as "it . . . had to do with the driveway, that was the interference that [the POA] were objecting to, wasn't it? Yes, sir." (R. p. 431).

Here, the easement was designed, in part, to provide a natural screen "from whatever happens to go on Parcels A or B." (R. pp. 226-27). The easement did not prohibit access across it, a fact broadly adduced at trial. (R. p. 228). The easement only burdened the servient estate to the degree necessary to allow the POA to maintain and landscape the twenty-five foot (25') length down MVP Drive. Instead of simply accessing the easement, the Halsells caused "hand-cutting and chainsaw cutting" of the landscaping in the easement as "[t]hey started the process to de-tree that area." (R. p. 237). Additionally, the Halsells tore up irrigation equipment installed by the POA and removed all of the sod because the driveway could not be built if the landscape easement remained undisturbed. (R. p. 234). Further, the Halsells had to bring in "heavier equipment" such as a "track hoe" because of the extensive nature of the work to turn that portion of the landscape easement into a driveway. (R. p. 238). Lastly, the Halsells had to go so far as to alter the grade of the slope in order to complete the driveway as well as destroy berms maintained by the POA in the landscape easement. (R. p. 239). The POA had historically exercised its powers to assess the homeowners for installation of berms and other landscape features in the landscape easement, which the driveway has now harmed. (R. p. 246).

The easement would require substantial repairs to return it to the condition prior to the Halsells' driveway, including the necessary steps of somebody having to "break their back" to get a hole in the concrete in order to landscape again. (R. p. 238).

**d) The Master-In-Equity Correctly Ruled that the Easement was not Abandoned and Balanced the Purpose of the Easement Against the Halsells' Actions**

As an alternative theory raised at trial (R. p. 166), the Halsells sought a finding the easement was abandoned by the POA; however, the Master-in-Equity concluded there was nothing evidencing the POA's intent to abandon the easement. (R. p. 19). To determine if an easement was abandoned by the dominant estate, the court must consider the "surrounding circumstances, and is shown by acts and conduct clearly inconsistent with any intention to retain and continue the use or ownership of the property or right. So, in determining whether property or a right was intended to be abandoned, it is proper to consider, and to give due weight to the nature of the property or right, and the conduct of the owner to it . . . ." *Witt v. Poole*, 182 S.C. 110, 115-16, 188 S.E. 496, 499 (1946) (citing 1 C.J.S. Abandonment, § 4b)). The crucial determinate is the intention of the *dominant estate* and not the perspective of the *servient estate*.

"The authorities are harmonious in holding, that mere nonuse of an easement created by deed for a period however long will not amount to an abandonment, except where otherwise provided by statute, or by the deed itself. In addition, there must be other acts by the owner of the dominant estate conclusively manifesting, either a present intent to relinquish the easement, or a purpose inconsistent with its further existence." *Witt*, 182 S.C. at 115, 188 S.E. at 498. The Halsells rely heavily on the natural state of portions of the easement to assert abandonment, which requires ignorance of the POA's intention to landscape both naturally and artificially. The landscaping easement has a purpose and the POA "must be limited to the least restrictive use and [ ]only has

rights incident or necessary to its proper enjoyment but nothing more." *Snow*, 416 S.C. at 86, 784 S.E.2d at 249.

The Halsells also sought to have the master find they had an easement by necessity that would defeat the primacy of the Landscape Easement, thereby excusing the breach. (R. p. 24). There is no evidence of necessity on the part of the Halsells as they sought out, applied for, and obtained an encroachment permit to build a driveway connected to Doug Hollow Road. (R. p. 653, R. p. 663). Such a permit establishes there is at least one alternative to building a driveway over the landscape easement.

"It flows from the deed and plat of the former owner to appellant's predecessors in title and, as is uniformly held, equity and good conscience require its vindication and protection." *Cason v. Gibson*, 217 S.C. 500, 507, 61 S.E.2d 58, 61 (1950). The POA is, in equity and good conscience, vindicating and protecting the rights afforded to it as owner of the dominant estate in a manner the POA has the authority to select unless this landscaping becomes so egregious as to increase the servient estate's burden. *Witt*, 182 S.C. 110, 188 S.E. 496 (holding an easement for a pond was abandoned when the dominant estate turned the pond into a dam for mill purposes).

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